

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Caesarean section versus vaginal delivery for preventing mother to infant hepatitis C virus transmission (Review)

McIntyre PG, Tosh K, McGuire W

McIntyre PG, Tosh K, McGuire W. Caesarean section versus vaginal delivery for preventing mother to infant hepatitis C virus transmission. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD005546. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005546.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	3
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
RESULTS	4
DISCUSSION	4
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	5
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
REFERENCES	6
APPENDICES	8
WHAT'S NEW	8
HISTORY	8
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	8
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	8
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	8
INDEX TERMS	9

[Intervention Review]

Caesarean section versus vaginal delivery for preventing mother to infant hepatitis C virus transmission

Paul G McIntyre¹, Karen Tosh², William McGuire³

¹Department of Microbiology, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee, UK. ²Centre For Public Policy and Management, University Of St Andrews, Fife, UK. ³Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, Hull York Medical School, York, UK

Contact: William McGuire, Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, Hull York Medical School, University of York, York, Y010 5DD, UK. William.McGuire@hyms.ac.uk.

Editorial group: Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth Group. **Publication status and date:** New search for studies and content updated (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 6, 2010.

Citation: McIntyre PG, Tosh K, McGuire W. Caesarean section versus vaginal delivery for preventing mother to infant hepatitis C virus transmission. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD005546. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005546.pub2.

Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Observational studies have generally not provided evidence that delivery by caesarean section reduces perinatal hepatitis C virus (HCV) transmission. However, these studies have methodological weaknesses with potential for bias and their findings should be interpreted with caution.

Objectives

To assess the evidence from randomised controlled trials that a policy of delivery by planned caesarean section versus vaginal delivery reduces mother to infant HCV transmission.

Search methods

We searched the Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth Group's Trials Register (March 2010).

Selection criteria

Controlled trials using random or quasi-random participant allocation that compared a policy of planned elective caesarean section versus vaginal birth for mothers with HCV infection.

Data collection and analysis

We did not identify any randomised controlled trials.

Main results

We did not identify any randomised controlled trials.

Authors' conclusions

Currently, there is no evidence from randomised controlled trials upon which to base any practice recommendations regarding planned caesarean section versus vaginal delivery for preventing mother to infant hepatitis C virus transmission. In the absence of trial data, evidence to inform women and carers is only available from observational studies that are subject to biases. Systematic review of these studies is needed. There is a need to determine whether women and healthcare providers would support a large pragmatic randomised controlled trial to provide evidence regarding the benefits and harms of planned elective caesarean section versus planned vaginal birth for women with HCV infection.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Caesarean section versus vaginal delivery for preventing mother to infant hepatitis C virus transmission

No good evidence to support using caesarean section for reducing mother to baby transmission of hepatitis C during labour and birth.

Hepatitis C is a viral infection that causes liver damage. Mother to infant transmission is the commonest route of hepatitis C virus (HVC) infection in children. Most infected children remain well but are at high risk of developing chronic liver problems during adulthood. HCV is transmitted by the mixing of blood or body fluids, and this can occasionally happen during pregnancy, or during labour and birth. The rate of transmission from mother to baby is about 5%. The review aimed to assess whether there was any evidence that using caesarean section rather than letting women labour might reduce mother to infant HCV transmission for women with HCV infection. No trials were found. Hence, there is no evidence to support the use of caesarean section in these circumstances. It is important to consider whether a randomised controlled trial would be warranted and acceptable.



BACKGROUND

Most infants who acquire hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection do so in utero or in the peripartum period (Mok 2005; Resti 1998). Specifically, breastfeeding is not thought to be an important mode of transmission (Conte 2000; Resti 1998; Ruiz-Extremera 2000). Infants who acquire HCV in utero or at birth do not develop clinically apparent liver problems in early childhood but most do develop chronic HCV infection and are likely to be at risk of longerterm problems related to chronic liver disease, including hepatic fibrosis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma (Rerksuppaphol 2004; Resti 2003; Tovo 2000). There is no available vaccine for preventing HCV infection. Pharmacological treatment regimens are successful in eradicating infection in more than half of the treated individuals but these are not used in pregnancy (Gluud 2002).

The overall prevalence of HCV infection among pregnant women in Europe and North America ranges from about 0.2% to 3% (Ades 2000; Conte 2000; Kim 2002). HCV seroprevalence is higher among pregnant women who live in economically deprived areas because of the high prevalence of specific major risk factors for transmission, especially injecting drug misuse (Goldberg 2001; Hutchinson 2002; Hutchinson 2004; McIntyre 2001). The HCV seroprevalence rate is also very high (more than 10%) in some developing countries where the practice of re-use of unsterilised injecting equipment in healthcare settings is common (Ahmad 2004; Kumar 1997).

The rate of mother to infant transmission of HCV is about 5% (Schwimmer 2000; Thomas 1998). Observational studies indicate that mother to infant transmission occurs predominantly in those women who have HCV ribonucleic acid detectable in their blood and that the risk of transmission is highest in those mothers who have a high hepatitis C viral load at the time of birth (Ceci 2001; Dal Molin 2002; Dore 1997; Resti 1998). Co-infection with the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) may also be a risk factor for transmission (Tovo 1997). The HCV genotype does not appear to affect the rate of perinatal HCV transmission (Resti 1998).

Observational studies have generally not provided evidence that the mode of delivery (caesarean section versus vaginal delivery) affects the risk of mother to infant HCV transmission (Ceci 2001; Conte 2000; Dal Molin 2002; EPHCVN 2001; EPHCVN 2005; Granovsky 1998; Resti 1998; Resti 2002; Spencer 1997; Tajiri 2001; Thomas 1998; Tovo 1997). Consensus statements and guidelines have concluded that elective caesarean section does not afford the infant protection from HCV infection and that routine screening for HCV in pregnancy is not warranted (NICE 2004; Seeff 2003). However, in these observational studies some of the caesarean sections occurred in labour following rupture of amniotic membranes. Uterine contractions may facilitate perinatal transmission of blood borne viruses by causing placental breaks that allow maternal blood to be passed to the fetus. The duration of membrane rupture has been shown to correlate with the incidence of mother to infant HCV transmission (Spencer 1997). Data from other observational studies have suggested that the estimated rate of perinatal HCV infection might be reduced if infants are delivered by caesarean section prior to rupture of membranes (Gibb 2000; Paccagnini 1995). The findings of the larger study should be interpreted with caution as the HCV status of some infants in the cohort was not ascertained and analyses were not stratified by HIV status of the mother (Gibb 2000).

Given the uncertainty of findings from observational studies, we aim to determine if there is any evidence from randomised controlled trials that offering elective caesarean section to mothers who are infected with HCV affects the risk of mother to infant HCV transmission. We recognise that a policy of offering delivery by elective caesarean section for women infected with HCV may have other consequences for mothers and infants in addition to the possible prevention of HCV transmission (Lilford 1990; Morrison 1995). These are important to consider given that the absolute risk of perinatal HCV transmission is low. These issues are explored in a Cochrane review of caesarean section for non-medical reasons at term (Lavender 2006).

OBJECTIVES

To evaluate the available evidence from randomised controlled trials that a policy of elective caesarean delivery versus vaginal delivery reduces the incidence of perinatal transmission of the hepatitis C virus.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

Controlled trials using random or quasi-random participant allocation. Unpublished studies and studies published only as abstracts will be included only if assessment of study quality is possible and if other criteria for inclusion are fulfilled. We will contact authors of studies published as abstracts for further information.

Types of participants

Pregnant women with serological evidence of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. We plan separate comparisons of studies in which only women who had HCV detectable by ribonucleic acid (RNA) polymerase chain reaction (PCR) in blood participated and in which women co-infected with HIV and HCV participated.

Types of interventions

Planned delivery by elective caesarean section (that is, planned to take place before rupture of membranes, or onset of labour or both) versus planned vaginal delivery. Data should be available for intention-to-treat analyses.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

HCV transmission-related

- 1. Hepatitis C infection: positive HCV-RNA PCR in blood on two separate occasions (including one at more than three months after birth), or positive anti-HCV serology at age 18 months or more (Dunn 2001; Gibb 2000).
- 2. Liver disease: clinical, biochemical, or histological evidence of chronic hepatitis, hepatic fibrosis, cirrhosis, or hepato-cellular carcinoma.
- 3. Need for treatment for chronic HCV infection or chronic liver disease.



Secondary outcomes

morbidities related to the actual method of delivery

- Maternal morbidity: admission to an intensive care unit; postpartum haemorrhage or anaemia requiring blood transfusion, or both; deep venous thrombosis or pulmonary embolism, or both; postpartum infection (wound-site, genitourinary tract, chest); postpartum haematoma (wound-site, perineal); women's negative views of their birth experience assessed using a validated tool; postnatal depression or post-traumatic stress syndrome assessed using a validated tool; other urogynaecological complications (for example, dyspareunia; uterovaginal prolapse; urinary, flatus, or faecal incontinence); subsequent pregnancy complications (ectopic pregnancy, abruption, sub-fertility, miscarriage, hysterectomy, major obstetric haemorrhage).
- Infant morbidity: neonatal intensive care unit admission; respiratory distress syndrome requiring mechanical ventilation or surfactant replacement therapy, or both; transient tachypnoea of the newborn requiring supplemental oxygen therapy; neonatal encephalopathy (as defined by trial authors).

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We searched the Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth Group's Trials Register by contacting the Trials Search Co-ordinator (March 2010).

The Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth Group's Trials Register is maintained by the Trials Search Co-ordinator and contains trials identified from:

- 1. quarterly searches of the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL);
- 2. weekly searches of MEDLINE;
- 3. handsearches of 30 journals and the proceedings of major conferences;
- 4. weekly current awareness alerts for a further 44 journals plus monthly BioMed Central email alerts.

Details of the search strategies for CENTRAL and MEDLINE, the list of handsearched journals and conference proceedings, and the list of journals reviewed via the current awareness service can be found in the 'Specialized Register' section within the editorial information about the Cochrane Pregnancy and Childbirth Group.

Trials identified through the searching activities described above are each assigned to a review topic (or topics). The Trials Search Coordinator searches the register for each review using the topic list rather than keywords.

For details of additional searching carried out for the initial version of the review, *see*: Appendix 1.

We did not apply any language restrictions. Trials that were reported only as abstracts would have been eligible if sufficient information was available from the report, or from contact with the authors, to fulfil the inclusion criteria.

Data collection and analysis

We did not identify any randomised controlled trials. If we identify trials in the future, we plan to use the following methods.

- 1. Two authors will screen the title and abstract of all studies identified by the above search strategy and obtain the full articles for all potentially relevant trials. Both authors will independently re-assess the full text of these reports using an eligibility form based on the prespecified inclusion criteria. We will exclude those studies that do not meet all of the inclusion criteria and will state the reasons for exclusion. We will request additional information from the trial author to clarify methodology. Where it is not possible to evaluate the study because of language problems or missing information, we will classify the study as a 'study awaiting assessment' until a translation or further information can be obtained. The authors will resolve any disagreements by discussion until consensus is achieved.
- 2. Two authors will assess the studies independently for selection bias (allocation concealment), performance bias (although it is unlikely that women or clinicians will be blind to the nature of the intervention), and attrition bias (completeness of assessment in all randomised individuals) (Alderson 2004).
- 3. Two authors will use a data collection form to aid extraction of relevant information and data from each included study. Each author will extract the data separately, compare data, and resolve differences by discussion until consensus is achieved. If data from the trial reports are insufficient, we will contact the trial authors for information. We will include individual outcome data in the analysis if they meet the prestated criteria in Types of outcome measures.
- 4. We will process included trial data as described in the *Cochrane Reviewers' Handbook* (Alderson 2004). We will present outcomes for categorical data as risk ratio, risk difference, and number needed to treat, with respective 95% confidence intervals. For continuous data, we will use the mean difference with 95% confidence intervals.
- 5. We will estimate the treatment effects of individual trials and examine heterogeneity between trial results by inspecting the forest plots and quantifying the impact of heterogeneity in any meta-analysis using a measure of the degree of inconsistency in the studies' results (l² statistic). If we detect statistical heterogeneity, we will explore the possible causes (for example, differences in study quality, participants, intervention regimens, or outcome assessments) using post hoc subgroup analyses. We plan to use a fixed-effect model for meta-analyses. We will examine publication bias using a funnel plot, and a regression approach to assess funnel plot asymmetry (Egger 1997).

RESULTS

Description of studies

We did not identify any randomised controlled trials.

Risk of bias in included studies

We did not identify any randomised controlled trials.

Effects of interventions

We did not identify any randomised controlled trials.

DISCUSSION

In the absence of data from randomised controlled trials, decisions regarding the mode of delivery of infants of mothers with hepatitis

C virus (HCV) infection will continue to be informed by the findings of observational studies. In general, data from cohort studies have not provided evidence that planned caesarean section prevents or reduces the incidence of mother to infant transmission of HCV. However, since these non-randomised studies have methodological weaknesses with potential for bias, their findings should be interpreted with caution. Several issues are important to consider.

- 1. Because the mode of delivery was not allocated randomly, there may be other factors associated with the decision to deliver by caesarean section versus the vaginal route that also affected the rate of mother to infant HCV transmission.
- 2. Most observational studies have not distinguished between elective (prelabour) and emergency (after the onset of labour) caesarean section. Since micro-transfusions during labour may be responsible for intrapartum HCV transmission (Mast 2005; Spencer 1997), it is more appropriate to compare outcomes for infants born following a planned vaginal delivery (whether this was successful or resulted in an emergency caesarean section) with infants born following a planned caesarean section (whether the elective caesarean section took place or whether vaginal delivery occurred prior to caesarean section). One observational study found that the estimated rate of HCV infection was statistically significantly lower in infants delivered by prelabour caesarean section compared with infants delivered by the vaginal route or by caesarean section after the onset of labour (Gibb 2000). However, this study was not able to account for the possible effect of HIV co-infection in a minority of the women in the cohort. Analysis of data from the large European Paediatric HCV Network study did not confirm this finding (EPHCVN 2005).
- 3. In general, observational studies have been under-powered to detect a small but potentially important effect of mode of delivery on the rate of HCV transmission. The largest reported study (EPHCVN 2005) was not powered sufficiently to detect a 50% reduction in rate of HCV transmission (with 80% power and 95% significance). Some studies were not able to determine the HCV-ribonucleic acid (RNA) status of women at the time of delivery. Since mother to infant transmission is very rare in the absence of HCV viraemia, inclusion of these women in the study cohorts will further reduce the power of the study to detect a difference between infants delivered by caesarean section versus the vaginal route. Systematic review and meta-analysis of data from the available cohort studies may provide a more precise estimate of the effect size.

The least biased assessment of the effect of planned caesarean section on mother to infant transmission of HCV would be provided by a randomised controlled trial. However, a trial would need to be large enough to detect a modest absolute risk reduction since the baseline risk of transmission is already low (about 5%). As a corollary, even if the intervention prevented all HCV transmission (an absolute risk reduction of about 5%), twenty caesarean sections would be required to prevent a single extra case of HCV transmission. Given the maternal and infant morbidity associated with caesarean section, the acceptability to women, their families, and their carers of undertaking a trial of this intervention should be explored. The implications for health services also need to be considered and evaluated. Modelling of cost-effectiveness in the United States using observational data to inform assumptions about prevalence and uptake of intervention suggest that a policy of offering elective cesarean delivery would only be cost-effective if it prevented at minimum 90% of HCV perinatal transmission (Plunkett 2004). For women who are co-infected with HIV and HCV (suppressed HIV RNA but detectable HCV RNA), the higher baseline risk of HCV transmission means that caesarean section may be a much more cost effective intervention (Schackman 2004).

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

At present there are not any data available from randomised trials to inform decisions. Although data from observational studies have generally not provided evidence that delivery by caesarean section prevent mother to infant HCV infection (unless there is HIV coinfection), these findings should be interpreted with caution.

Implications for research

There is a need to determine whether women and healthcare providers would support a large pragmatic randomised controlled trial to provide evidence regarding the benefits and harms of planned elective caesarean section versus planned vaginal birth for women with HCV infection. Such a trial should probably only include women who are HCV-RNA positive. The trial should adhere to intention-to-treat principles.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

As part of the pre-publication editorial process, this review has been commented on by two peers (an editor and a referee who is external to the editorial team), one or more members of the Pregnancy and Childbirth Group's international panel of consumers and the Group's Statistical Adviser.



REFERENCES

Additional references

Ades 2000

Ades AE, Parker S, Walker J, Cubitt WD, James R. HCV prevalence in pregnant women in the United Kingdom. *Epidemiology and Infection* 2000;**125**:399-405.

Ahmad 2004

Ahmad K. Pakistan: a cirrhotic state?. *Lancet* 2004;**364**(9448):1843-4.

Alderson 2004

Alderson P, Green S, Higgins JPT, editors. Cochrane Reviewers' Handbook 4.2.2 [updated March 2004]. In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 1, 2004. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Ceci 2001

Ceci O, Margiotta M, Marello F, Francavilla R, Loizzi P, Francavilla A, et al. Vertical transmission of hepatitis C virus in a cohort of 2,447 HIV-seronegative pregnant women: a 24-month prospective study. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 2001;**33**:570-5.

Conte 2000

Conte D, Fraquelli M, Prati D, Colucci A, Minola E. Prevalence and clinical course of chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection and rate of HCV vertical transmission in a cohort of 15,250 pregnant women. *Hepatology* 2000;**31**:751-5.

Dal Molin 2002

Dal Molin G, D'Agaro P, Ansaldi F, Ciana G, Fertz C, Alberico S, et al. Mother-to-infant transmission of hepatitis C virus: rate of infection and assessment of viral load and IgM anti-HCV as risk factors. *Journal of Medical Virology* 2002;**67**:137-42.

Dore 1997

Dore GJ, Kaldor JM, McCaughan GW. Systematic review of role of polymerase chain reaction in defining infectiousness among people infected with hepatitis C virus. *BMJ* 1997;**315**:333-7.

Dunn 2001

Dunn DT, Gibb DM, Healy M, Goodall RL, Butler K, Cafferkey M, et al. Timing and interpretation of tests for diagnosing perinatally acquired hepatitis C virus infection. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 2001;**20**:715-6.

Egger 1997

Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* 1997;**315**:629-34.

EPHCVN 2001

European Paediatric Hepatitis C Virus Network. Effects of mode of delivery and infant feeding on the risk of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis C virus. *BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology* 2001;**108**:371-7.

EPHCVN 2005

European Paediatric Hepatitis C Virus Network. A significant sex--but not elective cesarean section--effect on mother-tochild transmission of hepatitis C virus infection. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2005;**192**:1872-9.

Gibb 2000

Gibb DM, Goodall RL, Dunn DT, Healy M, Neave P, Cafferkey M, et al. Mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis C virus: evidence for preventable peripartum transmission. *Lancet* 2000;**356**(9233):904-7.

Gluud 2002

Gluud LL, Krogsgaard K, Gluud C. Ribavirin with or without alpha interferon for chronic hepatitis C. *Cochrane Database* of Systematic Reviews 2002, Issue 2. [Art. No.: CD002234. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002234.pub2]

Goldberg 2001

Goldberg D, McIntyre PG, Smith R, Appleyard K, Dunlop J, Taylor A, et al. Hepatitis C virus among high and low risk pregnant women in Dundee: unlinked anonymous testing. *BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology* 2001;**108**:365-70.

Granovsky 1998

Granovsky MO, Minkoff HL, Tess BH, Waters D, Hatzakis A, Devoid DE, et al. Hepatitis C virus infection in the mothers and infants cohort study. *Pediatrics* 1998;**102**:355-9.

Hutchinson 2002

Hutchinson SJ, McIntyre PG, Molyneaux P, Cameron S, Burns S, Taylor A, et al. Prevalence of hepatitis C among injectors in Scotland 1989-2000: declining trends among young injectors halt in the late 1990s. *Epidemiology and Infection* 2002;**128**:473-7.

Hutchinson 2004

Hutchinson SJ, Goldberg DJ, King M, Cameron SO, Shaw LE, Brown A, et al. Hepatitis C virus among childbearing women in Scotland: prevalence, deprivation, and diagnosis. *Gut* 2004;**53**:593-8.

Kim 2002

Kim WR. The burden of hepatitis C in the United States. *Hepatology* 2002;**36**:S30-S34.

Kumar 1997

Kumar RM, Frossad PM, Hughes PF. Seroprevalence and motherto-infant transmission of hepatitis C in asymptomatic Egyptian women. *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology* 1997;**75**:177-82.

Lavender 2006

Lavender T, Hofmeyr GJ, Neilson JP, Kingdon C, Gyte G. Caesarean section for non-medical reasons at term. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006, Issue 3. [Art. No.: CD004660. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004660.pub2]



Lilford 1990

Lilford RJ, van Coeverden de Groot HA, Moore PJ, Bingham P. The relative risks of caesarean section (intrapartum and elective) and vaginal delivery: a detailed analysis to exclude the effects of medical disorders and other acute pre-existing physiological disturbances. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1990;**97**:883-92.

Mast 2005

Mast EE, Hwang LY, Seto DS, Nolte FS, Nainan OV, Wurtzel H, et al. Risk factors for perinatal transmission of hepatitis C virus (HCV) and the natural history of HCV infection acquired in infancy. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2005;**192**:1880-9.

McIntyre 2001

McIntyre PG, Hill DA, Appleyard K, Taylor A, Hutchinson S, Goldberg DJ. Prevalence of antibodies to hepatitis C virus, HIV and human T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma viruses in injecting drug users in Tayside, Scotland, 1993-7. *Epidemiology and Infection* 2001;**126**:97-101.

Mok 2005

Mok J, Pembrey L, Tovo PA, Newell ML, European Paediatric Hepatitis C Virus Network. When does mother to child transmission of hepatitis C virus occur?. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2005;**90**:F156-F160.

Morrison 1995

Morrison JJ, Rennie JM, Milton PJ. Neonatal respiratory morbidity and mode of delivery at term: influence of timing of elective caesarean section. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 1995;**102**:101-6.

NICE 2004

National Institute for Clinical Excellence. Caesarean section - NICE guideline. http://www.nice.org.uk (accessed 2004).

Paccagnini 1995

Paccagnini S, Principi N, Massironi E, Tanzi E, Romano L, Muggiasca ML, et al. Perinatal transmission and manifestation of hepatitis C virus infection in a high risk population. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 1995;**14**:195-9.

Plunkett 2004

Plunkett BA, Grobman WA. Elective cesarean delivery to prevent perinatal transmission of hepatitis C virus: a cost-effectiveness analysis. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2004;**191**:998-1003.

Rerksuppaphol 2004

Rerksuppaphol S, Hardikar W, Dore GJ. Long-term outcome of vertically acquired and post-transfusion hepatitis C infection in children. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 2004;**19**:1357-62.

Resti 1998

Resti M, Azzari C, Mannelli F, Moriondo M, Novembre E, de Martino M, et al. Mother to child transmission of hepatitis C virus: prospective study of risk factors and timing of infection in children born to women seronegative for HIV-1. *BMJ* 1998;**317**:437-41.

Resti 2002

Resti M, Azzari C, Galli L, Zuin G, Giacchino R, Bortolotti F, et al. Maternal drug use is a preeminent risk factor for mother-tochild hepatitis C virus transmission: results from a multicenter study of 1372 mother-infant pairs. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2002;**185**:567-72.

Resti 2003

Resti M, Jara P, Hierro L, Azzari C, Giacchino R, Zuin G, et al. Clinical features and progression of perinatally acquired hepatitis C virus infection. *Journal of Medical Virology* 2003;**70**:373-7.

Ruiz-Extremera 2000

Ruiz-Extremera A, Salmeron J, Torres C, De Rueda PM, Gimenez F, Robles C, et al. Follow-up of transmission of hepatitis C to babies of human immunodeficiency virusnegative women: the role of breast-feeding in transmission. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 2000;**19**:511-6.

Schackman 2004

Schackman BR, Oneda K, Goldie SJ. The cost-effectiveness of elective Cesarean delivery to prevent hepatitis C transmission in HIV-coinfected women. *AIDS* 2004;**18**:1827-34.

Schwimmer 2000

Schwimmer JB, Balistreri WF. Transmission, natural history, and treatment of hepatitis C virus infection in the pediatric population. *Seminars in Liver Disease* 2000;**20**:37-46.

Seeff 2003

Seeff LB, Hoofnagle JH. Appendix: The National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference Management of Hepatitis C 2002. *Clinics in Liver Disease* 2003;**7**:261-87.

Spencer 1997

Spencer JD, Latt N, Beeby PJ, Collins E, Saunders JB, McCaughan GW, et al. Transmission of hepatitis C virus to infants of human immunodeficiency virus-negative intravenous drug-using mothers: rate of infection and assessment of risk factors for transmission. *Journal of Viral Hepatitis* 1997;**4**:395-409.

Tajiri 2001

Tajiri H, Miyoshi Y, Funada S, Etani Y, Abe J, Onodera T, et al. Prospective study of mother-to-infant transmission of hepatitis C virus. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 2001;**20**:10-4.

Thomas 1998

Thomas SL, Newell ML, Peckham CS, Ades AE, Hall AJ. A review of hepatitis C virus (HCV) vertical transmission: risks of transmission to infants born to mothers with and without HCV viraemia or human immunodeficiency virus infection. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1998;**27**:108-17.

Tovo 1997

Tovo PA, Palomba E, Ferraris G, Principi N, Ruga E, Dallacasa P, et al. Increased risk of maternal-infant hepatitis C virus transmission for women coinfected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Italian Study Group for HCV Infection in Children. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 1997;**25**:1121-4.



Tovo 2000

Tovo PA, Pembrey LJ, Newell ML. Persistence rate and progression of vertically acquired hepatitis C infection.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Additional search strategy

For the initial version of the review, authors searched the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (*The Cochrane Library* 2007, Issue 4) using the following search strategy:

#1 hepatitis (all fields)
#2 Hepatitis (explode MeSH)
#3 cesarean or caesarean or cesarian or caesarian or cesarien or caesarien (all fields)
#4 Delivery,Obstetric (explode MeSH)
#5 (#1 OR #2) AND (#3 OR #4)

WHAT'S NEW

Date	Event	Description
23 April 2010	New search has been performed	Search updated. No new trials identified.

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 4, 2005 Review first published: Issue 4, 2006

Date	Event	Description
13 February 2009	Amended	Author's contact details edited.
12 February 2008	Amended	Converted to new review format.
28 October 2007	New search has been performed	Search updated. No trials identified.
28 July 2006	New citation required and conclusions have changed	Substantive amendment

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Paul McIntyre, Karen Tosh, and William McGuire developed and completed the review jointly. William McGuire is the guarantor of the review.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None known.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee, UK.

External sources

• No sources of support supplied

European Paediatric Hepatitis C Virus Infection. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2000;**181**:419-24.



INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Pregnancy Complications, Infectious; Cesarean Section; Delivery, Obstetric [*methods]; Hepatitis C [*prevention & control] [transmission]; Infectious Disease Transmission, Vertical [prevention & control]

MeSH check words

Female; Humans; Infant, Newborn; Pregnancy